IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent v.

DEVON MARTEEN DANIELS,

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTORIA J. LYONS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Persons summoned for jury service may only be excused by the court pursuant to Title 4.44 RCW, or "upon a showing of undue hardship, extreme inconvenience, public necessity, or any reason deemed sufficient by the court for a period of time the court deems necessary." RCW 2.36.100. Must the conviction be reversed and dismissed where the trial court failed to follow this procedure or to state a valid basis for removing a qualified juror?
- 2. The admission of a booking photograph can be improper if it raises a prejudicial inference of criminal propensity. Is the admission

of Mr. Daniels's booking photograph improper and must the conviction be reversed if it raises a prejudicial inference because identity of the party arrested was not at issue?

3. A criminal defendant's constitutional right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. In this case the State failed to present sufficient evidence that Mr. Daniels unlawfully entered or remained in the Forge Jack Pot's office. Was Mr. Daniels's right to due process violated when he was convicted of one count of burglary in the second-degree?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

According to Maria Espinosa, a long-time clerk at the Forge Jack Pot convenience store, owned by Mark Freisem, Mr. Daniels came into the store on June 11, 2012 to get a cup of coffee. Mr. Daniels was unable to pay for the coffee and so Ms. Espinosa told him to go ahead and just take it without paying. 1RP 133-35. Mr. Daniels left the building and came back a few minutes later and asked Ms. Espinosa if he could use the restroom and she gave Mr. Daniels permission to do so. *Id.* at 37; 136. Mark Freisem was in the Forge when Mr. Daniels came back in and saw Ms. Espinosa give Mr. Daniels permission to use the restroom. He took the coffee cup in with him. It was later

recovered on the desk in the office. 1RP 54. The restroom was not a public bathroom but Mr. Freisem and his employees did allow customers to use it. *Id.* at 37

Mr. Freisem asked Ms. Espinosa if the door to the office was locked. 1RP 54. The restroom was accessible within the store. The office was then entered through a door from the restroom marked "No Exit." There was a storage space that was accessible from the office. *Id.* at 137. Ms. Espinosa had been in and out of the storage area that morning. *Id.* at 38; 136. Ms. Espinosa's testimony was conflicting regarding the office door. She stated that the door to the office from the restroom was usually closed and always locked, but also said that she was not sure if she had closed the door to the office when she last left it that morning. Ms. Espinosa testified that another client had used the restroom earlier that morning. *Id.* at 141-42. She was unclear as to whether or not the door was indeed closed when Mr. Daniels used the restroom. *Id.* at 139-43. Mr. Freisem may have told the 911 operator that the door was open. *Id.* at 104.

The door to the office could easily be opened even if locked, as the lock was faulty and often broken. A little jiggle of the handle and use of a shoulder and the door easily opened. 1RP 102-03, 137. The door has had to be repaired multiple times in the ten years Mr. Freisem has owned the store. 1RP 106. Mr. Freisem thought the amount of time Mr. Daniels spent in the restroom was cause for concern and went to investigate after he left the store. It only took Mr. Freisem a moment to see that the office door was open and that a desk drawer that had contained a bank bag with a deposit of \$7,712.59 was gone. 1RP 57. Mr. Freisem ran out of the office and yelled at Mr. Daniels to stop; he did not stop. Mr. Freisem followed him on foot but lost him. *Id.* at 78-79. He testified that Mr. Daniels was wearing a dark jacket, dark pants and a white shirt. *Id.* at 97-98.

The police were called and Mr. Freisem admittedly lied to the 911 operator by exaggerating the incident to get a quicker response.

1RP 107. The police arrived and joined Mr. Freisem's search. Mr.

Daniels was later found by Mr. Freisem and some of his friends. *Id.* at 82-84. Mr. Freisem pulled out his personal handgun while yelling at Mr. Daniels to get on the ground. The police showed up ten minutes later and arrested Mr. Daniels. *Id.* at 84-85.

The money was found, but not in Mr. Daniels's possession.

1RP 166; 2RP 235. There was a phone charger found with the money.

2RP 248. Mr. Daniels's fingerprints were not found in office, in the

restroom, on the bank bag, on the phone charger or on the coffee cup.

They were not found on anything associated with the crime. 2RP 253.

There was a surveillance video admitted at trial that showed Mr.

Daniels doing something with the front of his pants in the office. It did not show the bank bag. 1RP 192.

During voir dire juror number 18 stated that because of experiences she had growing up and living in Detroit she did not feel that she could believe anything that cops say. Jury Voir Dire (JVD) 97.¹ The State expressed concern over the juror's ability to be fair and impartial. *Id.* Juror number 18 was questioned further and expressed that she could indeed be fair and impartial. *Id.* at 103. She said that if she were the defendant she would want herself on the jury. *Id.* at 105. Over Mr. Daniels's objection the trial court granted the State's motion to dismiss for cause stating that Juror number 18 had "an all or nothing" attitude regarding the police. *Id.* at 109.

During trial a booking photograph of Mr. Daniels was admitted over his objection. 2RP 218; 223-26. Mr. Daniels argued that the photograph was unfairly prejudicial and irrelevant. The State failed to raise the issue of identity in the opening argument and although the

¹ Not all transcripts are labeled by volume so some are listed by name or date.

issue of the actual perpetrator of the crime was at issue, the fact that Mr. Daniels was indeed arrested and booked was not. *Id.* at 219-20. Mr. Daniels argued a general denial of the crime at the trial level. *Id.* The State argued that the booking photo should be admitted because it demonstrated that Mr. Daniels had "corn rolls" at trial and did not at the time of booking. 2RP 218. The trial judge allowed the photo based on "[t]he fact that he has corn rolls today and Geri curl or something the next day isn't going to make that much difference, I assure you, to the jury. You have two African-Americans and one Native American who deal with hair issues all the time." *Id.* at 220.

D. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Daniels was denied his right to a trial by an impartial and indifferently chosen jury, requiring reversal.

The accused in a criminal trial has a constitutional right to have a fair and impartial jury determine his guilt or innocence. U.S. Const. amends 6, 14; Wash. Const. art. 1, 3 § 22; *Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975); *Irvin v. Dowd*, 366 U.S. 717, 722, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961); *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 748, 743 P.2d 210 (1987), *cert. denied*, 486 U.S. 1061 (1988); *State v. Brett*, 126 Wn.2d 136, 157, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). "Washington, like every other state, is committed to the proposition

that the right to a trial by jury includes the right to an unbiased and unprejudiced jury, and that a trial by jury, one or more of whose members is biased or prejudiced, is not a constitutional trial." *State v. Parnell*, 77 Wn.2d 503, 507, 463 P.2d 134 (1969).

a. A juror may only be removed for cause in very limited circumstances. Where a jurors's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties" that juror must be excused for cause. *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 721 P.2d 902 (1986) (quoting *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985)). If a biased juror is permitted to deliberate, the accused is denied his constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury, requiring reversal. *Parnell*, 77 Wn.2d at 507; *State v. Gonzales*, 111 Wn. App. 276, 282, 45 P.3d 205 (2002).

Those summoned for jury service may only be excused by the court pursuant to Title 4.44 RCW, or "upon a showing of undue hardship, extreme inconvenience, public necessity, or any reason deemed sufficient by the court for a period of time the court deems necessary." RCW 2.36.100. Jurors may be removed for cause if they possess a state of mind "which satisfies the court the potential juror [?] cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice." RCW

4.44.170; RCW 4.44.190. When a challenge for actual bias is made, the trial court must determine whether the prospective juror's state of mind is such that he or she can try the case fairly and impartially. RCW 4.44.190. This is a preliminary question that must be resolved by the court before the challenge itself may be ruled upon. *Ottis v. Stevenson-Carson Sch. Dist. No. 303*, 61 Wn. App. 747, 753, 812 P.2d 133 (1991). When a challenge for cause is made, opposing counsel can object either on the grounds that it is facially insufficient or that the facts needed to support it are not true. RCW 4.44.230-250.

b. There was insufficient showing of cause to excuse the potential juror.

In this case juror number 18 voiced some concern during voir dire as to the honesty of police officers. JVD 97. Due to her experiences living in Detroit she had difficulty trusting law enforcement. When questioned further she said "I could be fair and impartial because if they have to prove something against someone they have to 100 percent in their proof in order to have these allegations against someone." *Id.* at 105.. This was a sufficient rehabilitation and the State's motion to dismiss for cause should not have been granted.

c. A defendant has a right to a trial by a jury that is representative of the community. Under *Batson v. Kentucky*, a criminal defendant is entitled to a jury comprised of members who are selected pursuant to nondiscriminatory criteria. 476 U.S. 79, 85-86, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986).² The selection process itself functions as an irreplaceable method of protecting the impartiality of the petit jury.³

"The petit jury has occupied a central position in our system of justice by safeguarding a person accused of crime against the arbitrary exercise of power by prosecutor or judge." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 86 (*citing Duncan v. Louisiana*, 391 U.S. 145, 156, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 1451, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 (1968)); *see Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. at 530.

In addition, the right to a trial by a jury that is representative of the community includes the right to a venire that is "indifferently chosen." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 86-87 (*citing Strauder v. West Virginia*, 100 U.S. 303, 309, 25 L.Ed. 664 (1880)); *State v. Hilliard*, 89 Wn.2d 430, 440, 573 P.2d 22 (1977) (*citing Taylor v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. at 522).

² Even though this right does not extend to the right to a petit jury comprised of one's own race, the right to a fair and indifferent selection process is key to the *Batson* holding. 476 U.S. at 85-86.

³ For example, the criminal rules permit both parties to exercise peremptory challenges against potential jurors without stating a reason. CrR challenges to exclude otherwise qualify and unbiased jurors based upon their race. U.S. Const. amend. 14; *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 98, *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

The central purpose of *Batson* and its progeny is to enforce the court's duty to protect the right of defendants to an impartial jury, as well as to protect the rights of potential jurors to participate in the civic process. *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 87-88. It is also to ensure that our justice system is free from any taint of unfair bias, and to ensure that all "qualified citizens" under RCW 2.36.080(1) are guaranteed the opportunity to be considered for jury service.

The removal of Juror #18 tainted the jury selection process, depriving Mr. Daniels of a jury that was "indifferently chosen." Juror number 18 was properly rehabilitated when she stated that she could be fair and impartial while serving on the jury. JVD 104. By granting the State's motion to dismiss Juror number 18 for cause, with insufficient showing of cause the trial court erred and tainted voir dire.

d. Reversal is the appropriate remedy. A harmless error analysis is not permitted in *Batson* cases, as erroneous denial of an impartial fact-finder is *per se* reversible error. *Gray v. Mississippi*, 481 U.S. 648, 668, 107 S.Ct. 2045, 95 L.Ed.2d 622, (1987) (among those constitutional rights so basic "that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error" is defendant's "right to an impartial adjudicator, be it

judge or jury.") Mr. Daniels's case must therefore be reversed and remanded for a new trial. *Gray*, 481 U.S. at 668.

- 2. The trial court's admission of Mr. Daniels's booking photo was prejudicial error.
- a. The admission of Mr. Daniels's booking photo improperly implied he was guilty. It has been recognized by this Court that referencing a booking photo may raise a prejudicial inference of criminal propensity. *State v. Henderson*, 100 Wn. App. 794, 803, 998 P.2d 907 (2000). The wrongful admission of a booking photo is grounds for reversal if "within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn. App 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981).

This Court also ruled that unless identity is a material issue a booking photograph is unnecessary. *State v. Sanford*, 128 Wash. App 280, 115 P.3d 368 (2005) and *State v. Mendoza*, 139 Wash. App. 693, 162 P.3d 439 (2007). In this case the State introduced the booking photo from Mr. Daniels's arrest for the offense to which he was standing trial. 2RP 223-26. Although the identity of the person responsible for committing the crime was at issue, the fact that Mr. Daniels was arrested for that crime was not, making it analogous to the situation in *Sanford*. *Id*. at 220.

b. The admission of Mr. Daniels's booking photo was prejudicial error. The introduction of Mr. Daniels's booking photo was not harmless error. "[I]mproper admission of evidence constitutes harmless error if the evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole." *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wash. App. 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Almost the entirety of the evidence against Mr. Daniels introduced at trial was circumstantial so the erroneous admission of the booking photo cannot be viewed as harmless error.

c. The remedy is reversal of the conviction.

Because the introduction of the booking photo rose to the level of prejudicial error and it cannot be assumed that without the improperly admitted booking photo there was overwhelming evidence to convict Mr. Daniels, his conviction must be reversed. 128 Wash. App. at 288.

- 3. Mr. Daniel's right to due process was violated when the State presented insufficient evidence to establish all the elements for one conviction of burglary in the second-degree.
 - a. A conviction must be supported by sufficient evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of the crime charged.

The State bears the burden of presenting sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of a crime charged. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. *Id.*; U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Const. art. I § 3; *City of Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S. Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1970).

b. <u>Insufficient evidence was presented to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Daniels entered or remained unlawfully in the store's office to sustain a conviction of burglary in the second-degree.</u>

Mr. Daniels was convicted of one count of burglary in the second degree. 12/19/12RP 4. RCW 9A.52.030(1):

A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree, if with intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she *enters or remains unlawfully* in a building other than a vehicle or a dwelling.

"Enters or remains unlawfully" is defined in RCW 9A.52.010 as: "A person 'enters or remains unlawfully' in or upon premises when he or she is not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or remain."

In this case Mr. Daniels was given permission to enter the Forge Jack Pot's restroom that was adjacent to the office. There was testimony that the office door was open. 1RP 104; 139-43. Even if it had not been open there was no sign, such as one that read "Private" indicating that it was off-limits to customers. The sign on the door read "No Exit." *Id.* at 137. There was insufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Daniels entered the office unlawfully.

c. <u>The proper remedy is reversal of the convictions based on</u> insufficient evidence.

A conviction based on insufficient evidence must be reversed and the charge dismissed. *State v. Kilburn*, 151 Wn.2d 36, 54, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004). To retry Mr. Daniels for the same conduct would violate the federal and state constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy. U.S. Const. amend. V; Wash Const. art 1 § 9; *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 18, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979); *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 103, 954 P.2d 900 (1998). In the absence of sufficient evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Mr. Daniels entered or remained unlawfully in the Forge Jack Pot office his conviction for second-degree burglary must be reversed and the charge dismissed.

E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Daniels respectfully requests this Court order his burglary conviction be reversed based on insufficient evidence and in the alternative it be remanded to the court below.