NO. 44382-1-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DEVON MARTEEN DANIELS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Beverly Grant

No. 12-1-02173-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
KAWYNE A. LUND
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 19614

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCUSING JUROR 18 FOR CAUSE AFTER SHE UNEQUOVIALLY STATED THE STATE WOULD HAVE TO PROVE THE CASE TO HER "100%."

- a. Applicable Law

A trial court's decision to excuse a juror is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 204 P.2d 902 (1986).

An appellate court reviews a trial court's decision on actual bias in the same way as it reviews any other factual determination by a trial court. Rather than making its own de novo decision, the appellate court must defer to the trial court's decision.

Ottis v. Stevenson-Carson School District, 61 Wn. App. 747, 755, 812

P.2d 133 (1991). The Court continued:

This is done by taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party below, which in turn means that the appellate court must accept the trial judge's decision regarding the credibility of the prospective juror and any other persons involved, as well as the trial judge's choice of reasonable inferences.

Ottis, 61 Wn. App. at 755-56. (*Footnotes omitted*).

The law is clear, in cases where appellant challenges the trial court's ruling to remove a juror for cause, the trial judge's decision shall be given significant deference. The statute that best speaks to a trial court's obligation in this area is RCW 2.36.110, which states:

It shall be the duty of a judge to excuse from further jury service any juror, who in the opinion of the judge, has manifested unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention or any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices incompatible with proper and efficient jury service. [Emphasis added.] (Appendix A).

In deciding whether to grant or deny a juror challenged for cause based on bias, the trial judge has fact-finding discretion, which allows the judge to weigh the credibility of the prospective juror based on his or her

observations. *State v. Rupe*, 108 Wn.2d 734, 749, 743 P.2d 210 (1987); *State v. Jordan*, 103 Wn. App. 221, 11 P.3d 866 (2000), *review denied*, 143 Wn.2d 1015, 22 P.3d 803(2001). *Citing State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 809 P.2d 190 (1991), the *Ottis* Court said:

... [T]he trial court is in the best position to determine a juror's ability to be fair and impartial. It is the trial court that can observe the demeanor of the juror and evaluate and interpret the responses. [Footnote omitted.]

Ottis v Stevenson-Carson School District, 61 Wn. App at 756.

The State, as well as the accused, has the right to an impartial jury. *See Hayes v. Missouri*, 120 U.S. 68, 70-71, S. Ct. 350, 30 L. Ed. 578 (1887). The jury process is designed to cull from the venire persons who demonstrate that they cannot be fair to either side of the case. *State v. Hughes*, 106 Wn.2d 176, 185, 721 P.2d 902 (1986). The guarantee of impartiality cannot mean that the State has a right to present its case to the jury most likely to convict, nor can it mean that the defendant has a right to present his case to a jury most likely to acquit. *State v. Hughes* 106 Wn.2d at 185-86.

b. Applicable Facts

We next turn to the facts of this case and Juror 18. Defendant is rather selective in the portions of applicable transcript he includes. He states in his brief that Juror 18 "*voiced some concern...as to the honesty of*

police officers." App. Brf. p. 8. Citing 'JVD 97.' Though Juror 18 does not appear on that particular page of the transcript, she does on page 79. However, it is a bit of an understatement to describe her comments as merely "voice[ing] some concern...as to the honesty of police officers" *App. Brf. p. 8.* Here is what the juror said as it relates to her view of police officers:

JUROR NO. 18: In Detroit. I've seen a lot and a lot I witnessed that was not very positive of police, and a lot of things *I seen police do it wasn't right.* A lot of things I have witnessed in Seattle that wasn't right and in Pierce County that wasn't right. *I grew up in Detroit, witnessed and living here[.] I've seen things that wasn't right.*

JVD 78. [Emphasis added.]

The State asked Juror 18 if that would impact her ability to listen to law enforcement officers or witnesses and be fair and partial?

JUROR NO. 18: Yes, it would because, being honest, *I can't believe anything that comes out their mouth, and that is because of what I witnessed growing up, what I seen growing up.* People say things but regardless of what you say to bring it right back to, you know, do you want prejudice? I've grown up and I seen. Things I heard growing up, things I witnessed. *Things I seen with the police officers I had to deal with my own sons here in this state. I don't believe anything coming out of their mouth.*

JVD 79. [Emphasis added.]

In response to the State's question whether she could be impartial to a witness other than an officer, the juror responded:

JUROR NO. 18: I can believe one side of the story but *when I hear another side of the story and it's all police saying something that a person did, especially a person of color, I don't believe them unless -- I got to really, really, really, really believe the evidence. And I'm not putting anybody down but everybody might sugarcoat what they are thinking but I'm being real. I seen too much and I have witnessed too much, as far as cops of me being a person of color, and I'm not going to lie about it.*

JVD 79-80. [Emphasis added.]

She also told counsel she had two members of her family that were in law enforcement. JVD 83. The State moved to excuse Juror 18 for cause. JVD 97. The court was inclined to agree with the State, stating, "*I think she [Juror 18] was pretty adamant.*" However the judge requested additional voir dire of Juror 18. JVD 98. Juror 18 came before the court for additional questions. The juror responded affirmatively when the State asked her if she could follow the law the judge gave and that she could listen to the testimony of law enforcement. JVD 103. The State then returned to Juror 18's prior comments regarding her opinion of law enforcement. The following questions and answers occurred:

JUROR NO. 18: I won't necessarily not believe them because they are law enforcement officers but, like I said earlier, *they have to really prove their case, their point, in order for me to believe them because I have seen firsthand things that weren't right.* And I am not just saying that, I'm being real here. I seen things that weren't right. *I have three sons that was done to, my sons, and my face that I saw.*

STATE: If you heard testimony from a law enforcement officer and then you heard other evidence that support what they had said...was consistent with what they had to say, could you ... actually believe that's what happened?

JUROR NO. 18: Let me put it to you this way. *Listen to what I'm saying. I'm saying this: You have to really prove it to me because I have seen them do things and say it was true and it was not true*, because I was there and I witnessed with my own eyes. And what I said didn't mean anything, because what was told to me is *they are the law and they believe them before they believe you*. I have seen firsthand officers do things but because I'm nobody, and nobody will believe me, it was set in stone on paper. *And then my sons had to suffer for something that was not true* when me, I, saw and other people saw the same thing. This is what I'm saying.

JVD 104-05. [Emphasis added.] The court then asked Juror 18 several questions regarding the degree of proof she would require of the State:

THE COURT: Do you think you could be fair and impartial based upon the evidence that has been presented to you and not based upon the experiences?

JUROR NO. 18: Yes, I could. *I could be fair and impartial because if they have to prove something against someone they have to 100 percent in their proof in order to have these allegations against someone*. It is not from personal experiences or anything. I have to really, really, actually -- they have to really win me over with the proof.

THE COURT: So if the proof is say 51 percent because they are only a small component of the overall evidence; hypothetically, I don't know, would that suffice or would you have an expectation that they have a higher standard up to a 100 percent.

JUROR NO. 18: A higher standard as far as them being officers?

THE COURT: Of proof.

JUROR NO. 18: *They have to have a higher standard of proof, because if they are going to those allegations against someone they have to have it. I'm just being real. It has to be 100 percent proof in order for me to listen to it to give a fair opinion, fair answer. Because I have someone's life in my hand and I don't know about everybody else but coming to this state I seen so many things and people still are hush, hush about it but it's reality. I seen so much. Like I said, I have three -- four children, three sons. One son is dead now from things I have seen. And I can't do anything about it because I am not higher up. And I have seen people with 100 percent proof of things but it wasn't true, and then a person suffered.*

JVD 105-06. [Emphasis added.] She reiterated her requirement of "100% proof" again. JVD 106.

Lastly, the State asked if she were the prosecutor, would she want someone with her frame of mind on the jury. Juror 18 responded:

JUROR NO. 18: *I probably wouldn't. It's not a frame of mind. I'm open and honest. I have been a very honest, open person all my life. I see things -- if it's black, I see black. If it's white, I see white. I see it for what it is, and no prosecutor probably won't want me on their case because I see things fairly.*

JVD 107. [Emphasis added.]

c. Court's Ruling

THE COURT: All right. I think the State has established for cause with Juror No. 18. It's all or nothing with her, and it doesn't appear that she can be open enough to accept anything except all or nothing. So your motion to excuse for her for cause, Juror No. 18, is granted.

d. Analysis

Juror 18 was questioned extensively. She was asked multiple questions on the topics of police witnesses and the State's burden of proof. In addition to the responses already noted, she also detailed several contacts with law enforcement where she was the victim of violent crimes. She stated she was knocked down, an AK-47 put to her head, and robbed when sleeping with her child during Christmas. JVD 41. She told of another home invasion robbery where the perpetrators broke down her door. Her son called 911 and Tacoma Police responded.¹ She told of an incident that occurred in Detroit. She said she was attacked when walking home from work very late at night with a friend and her baby. JVD 43. When asked if any juror had been involved or witnessed money taken from their work place, Juror 18 responded. She told of being a restaurant manager when a man came through a window, put a knife down next to her hand, and took the till. JVD 52. These incidents are presumably some of the "things [she] has seen" in her contact with law enforcement.

There are more than adequate facts in the record to support the trial court's decision to excuse Juror 18 for cause. Juror 18 demonstrated not only actual bias but also her intent to apply a standard of proof other than what the law provides.

Juror 18 repeatedly referred to events she has seen, been a part of, or a family member has been a part of that caused her to be distrusting of law enforcement. JVD 78-80, 104-06. Probably most alarming is her statement regarding one of her sons. She said, "One son is dead now from things I have seen. And I can't do anything about it because I am not higher up. And I have seen people with 100% proof of things but it wasn't true, and then a person suffered." JVD 106. No attempt at rehabilitation could possibly counter Juror 18's belief that her son wrongfully died "from the things I have seen." *Id.* She used the phrase "things I have seen" repeatedly when being questioned as to her attitude toward law enforcement. JVD 78-80, 104-06. Furthermore, she states that even "100% proof...wasn't true." JVD 106. Juror 18 displayed a clear inability to divorce her extremely strong-held opinions from applying the proper applicable law.

Defendant cannot meet his burden that the trial court abused its discretion in excusing Juror 18 for cause. The trial court's decision should be reversed only if it was manifestly unreasonable, or based on untenable grounds, or made for untenable reasons. *State v. Blackwell*, 120 Wn.2d 822, 830, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993); citing *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). A new trial is necessitated only when

¹ A number of Tacoma Police officers were scheduled to, and did, testify in this case.

the defendant “has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be treated fairly.” *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 407, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) (citing *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); see also *State v. Lemieux*, 75 Wn.2d 89, 91, 448 P.2d 943 (1968) (“*Something more than a possibility of prejudice must be shown to warrant a new trial.*”)).

There is ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's decision. That, coupled with the court's ability to observe Juror 18, and even question her, clearly allowed the judge to determine Juror 18's demeanor and her credibility. Juror 18 was not excused for manifestly unreasonable, untenable grounds or reasons.

e. Improper *Batson* Argument

It is a bit unclear precisely what the defendant is claiming in this section. The State presumes defendant is arguing that the removal of Juror 18 violated *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986).

Batson applies to *peremptory* challenges and is designed to require counsel to state their reasons when there is a questionable request to exercise a peremptory challenge. *Batson* prevents a party from exercising a peremptory challenge based on race, in violation of a defendant's right to equal protection. *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 89, 106 S. Ct. 1712. “In order to contest a peremptory challenge, the defendant must first make out a prima

facie case of racial motivation. The burden then shifts to the State to articulate a race-neutral explanation for the exercise of the peremptory challenge.” *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 699, 903 P.2d 960 (1995).

However, at trial there was no objection or even argument that there was a violation of *Batson*; *Batson* was never mentioned. Defendant does not point to any part of the record where the race of any person, juror or defendant, is mentioned during the argument regarding excusing Juror 18 or any other motion before the court. Any objection based upon *Batson* has not been properly preserved.

Argument regarding Juror 18 occurred twice. JVD 97-98 and 107-09. There is no objection, other than defendant's argument regarding the sufficiency of grounds to remove Juror 18 for cause. The State's argument regarding the basis for removal of the juror cannot remotely be argued as being race-based. Even if *Batson* applied to this situation, there is no basis for a *Batson* argument.

This claim fails.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING DEFENDANT'S BOOKING PHOTO WHEN IDENTITY WAS AN ISSUE.

The admission or exclusion of relevant evidence is within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 700 P.2d 610 (1990) (*State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651, review

denied, 120 Wn.2d 1022 (1992)). The trial court's decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion, which exists only when no reasonable person would have taken the position adopted by the trial court. *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. at 162.

Under ER 401, evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable that it would be without the evidence." (Appendix B). Such evidence is admissible unless, under ER 403, the evidence is prejudicial so as to substantially outweigh its probative value, confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or cause any undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. (Appendix C).

The primary, if not sole, issue in this trial was identity. Defendant endorsed "general denial" as his defense. CP 230-32. Defendant specifically inquired about mistaken identity in voir dire. JVD 62-63. Exhibits 59A and 59B were introduced for the purposes of establishing identity. *See* Exs. 59A & 59B (Booking Photos). The exhibits are the two booking photos taken on the day of defendant's arrest, which was shortly after the commission of the crime. The testimony elicited by the State clearly reflects that the photos were from that date, not a prior date. 12/13/12 RP 224-25. This obviously is significant because a photo taken

the day of the crime in question cannot confer the existence of any *past* criminal conduct.

The State submits that the only issue at trial was whether the defendant was the one who entered the office and took the money.

Apparently defendant agrees. *See App.'s Brf.* p. 11:

Although the identity of the person responsible for committing the crime was at issue, the fact that [defendant] was arrested for that crime was not....

Defendant misunderstands the purpose for which the State sought admission. The State was not trying to establish that the defendant was the person arrested that day, that is not in dispute. Rather the State was trying to establish what the defendant looked like on the day of the crime. Given he had materially changed his hair between his arrest and trial, he had to some degree changed his appearance. The jury was entitled to see what the eyewitnesses saw on the day of the crime to be able to best assess whether the defendant was the person the victim and witnesses saw. This obviously goes to their credibility of their in-court identification of the defendant. The jury knew the defendant was arrested and booked in the jail that day. 12/12/12 RP 166, 169, 175; 12/13/12 RP 224-25. The situation is on point with controlling case law regarding the admissibility of booking photos or "mug shots."

State v. Rivers, 129 Wn.2d 697, 921 P.2d 495 (1996) resolves this issue. That Court said:

Because Defendant [] raised the issue of identity during opening statements, the photograph of the Defendant on the day of the crime was relevant as it tended to show that the victim's description to police matched the man arrested shortly after the robbery. The admission of the photo was not prejudicial because the jury knew the Defendant was arrested for the crime on which he was being tried, and the jury would reasonably have been aware that a booking procedure, including photographing the Defendant would have existed.

State v. Rivers 129 Wn.2d at 712. In this case, it is undisputed that the identity of the person who stole the money from the office of the victim business was an issue. The State alleged the defendant was the person who entered the business, asked to use the bathroom, and then entered the office adjoining the bathroom without permission, and stole the cash from the desk drawer. The person who did this was observed by a number of different individuals, each testified. The defendant elected to change his appearance by the time of trial. Since relevant evidence of the defendant's appearance at the time of the crime existed, the State was entitled to seek its admission.

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